#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

ERVIN FUNDERBURG, et al

vs

1 :

APPELLANTS

NO. 2008-CA-00235

PONTOTOC ELECTRIC POWER ASSN.

.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

**RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,** 

JON TERUMP

218 N. Spring St. P.O. Box 1362 Tupelo, MS 38802

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

ERVIN FUNDERBURG, et al

APPELLANTS

NO. 2008-CA-00235

 $\mathbf{VS}$ 

PONTOTOC ELECTRIC POWER ASSN.

#### APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Facts	
Summary of	f the Case 10
Argument	
I. II.	The filing of the first Complaint tolled the statute of limitations for Corner Closet, Inc
	run business should be treated as a filing on behalf of the business as a partnership 12
Conclusion.	
Certificate o	of Service
Certificate o	f Mailing 16

## **TABLE OF CASES**

Page:

Case:

1

( I

<u>Worman v. Bucklew</u>, 684 So.2d 1246, 1256 (Miss.1996).

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

1 :

È

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WAS THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR THE SECOND SUIT TOLLED BY THE TIMELY FILING OF THE FIRST SUIT?

1 -

II. SHOULD A DISSOLVED, CLOSELY HELD CORPORATION BE TREATED AS A PARTNERSHIP IN A FILING WHEN THE CORPORATION WAS OPERATING AS A PARTNERSHIP AT THE TIME OF THE FILING?

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

-

#### ACTION C2002-082

Defendant/Appellee, Pontotoc Electric Power Association (hereinafter referred to as PEPA), was sued in the Circuit Court of Calhoun County, Mississippi, Cause No. C2002-082, by Ervin Funderburg, one of the Plaintiff/Appellants, in this case on June 14, 2002, from an incident occurring on March 3, 2002. PEPA was served with process within the prescribed time of 120 days. On August 26, 2002, PEPA served its *Answer and Affirmative Defenses* together with discovery. That case was dismissed as stale on January 24, 2004. It was reinstated on February 3, 2004.

After the deposition of the Plaintiff, an amendment was sought changing the named Plaintiff from Ervin Funderburg to Corner Closet, Inc. This request for amendment was filed April 16, 2004. This amendment was granted April 17, 2004. This amendment is the first time the entity Corner Closet, Inc. was brought into a lawsuit against PEPA. The *Amended Complaint* itself was filed on June 24, 2004, to be re-served with the already substituted Plaintiff's name of Corner Closet, Inc.

After several unsuccessful attempts to set a trial date, the matter was set for trial on August 11, 2005. Unfortunately, the trial date was continued by Order of the Court on August 11, 2005. Defendant filed a *Motion to Dismiss* on the basis that Corner Closet, Inc. had been dissolved since 1993 on August 18, 2005. A hearing on Defendant's motion was set for the 26<sup>th</sup> of October, 2005. This hearing date was changed to October 23, 2005, at the Defendant's convenience. After the hearing on Defendant's motion,

Cause No. 2002-082 naming Corner Closet, Inc. as a corporation was dismissed by *Order* of the Court on October 26, 2005.

÷.

#### ACTION C2005-178

A separate suit on the same action was sent to be filed with the Court on November 29, 2005 and was filed with the Court on December 2, 2005. This new suit named Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt, individually, as well as doing business as Corner Closet, Inc. and CC Blouses. The cause number of this case was C2005-178. It is the dismissal of this action that is the basis of the appeal before the Court.

On January 20, 2006, Appellee PEPA filed a *Motion to Dismiss and Alternatively, for Summary Judgment*. A hearing on this motion of Defendant was held on October 23, 2006. The Judge rendered his opinion by signing an *Order of Final Judgment* on November 3, 2006, presumptively prepared by Defendant/Appellee PEPA. However, this Judgment was not filed until December 18, 2007, nor was the decision communicated to Plaintiff/Appellant until shortly before that period. Plaintiff/Appellant brought a *Motion to Extend Appeal Deadline* on December 19, 2007, which was filed with the Court on December 21, 2007. This motion was granted on January 14, 2008. *Notice of Appeal* was filed within the prescribed time.

#### FACTS

On March 3, 2002, employees of Pontotoc Electric Power Association, while removing above ground gas tanks adjacent to property owned by Pam Burt, spilled a quantity of fuel on the ground. It has been alleged that this fuel irreparably damaged an inventory of used and overstock clothing to be sold by the businesses, Corner Closet, Inc. and CC Blouses. During the deposition testimony of Ervin Funderburg, who was a person claiming interest in both businesses, it was revealed that the inventory was the property of Corner Closet, Inc. Mr. Funderburg, in his deposition testimony, stated that this was a corporation currently operating in the State of Mississippi in the business of the retail sale of used and overstocked clothing. Mr. Funderburg indicated in his deposition that his daughter, Pam Burt and his wife, Nancy Funderburg, were shareholders in the corporation, Corner Closet, Inc. He further indicated that CC Blouses was a subsidiary of Corner Closet, Inc. and that the same persons listed above were shareholders in this business. Records with the Secretary of State of Mississippi show that Corner Closet, Inc. was officially dissolved in 1993. However, two locations operating under the names of Corner Closet and CC Blouses were still in operation as of 2002 when the incident in question took placed although neither was incorporated through the Secretary of State's Office. Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg and Pam Burt were all shareholders in the businesses Corner Closet, Inc. and CC Blouses in 2002.

#### SUMMARY OF THE CASE

This case turns on one question. Should the filing of a lawsuit in the name of a dissolved corporation toll the statute of limitations for the individual shareholders of that corporation when the shareholders continue to operate the business in fact?

There is no question that Corner Closet, Inc. was dissolved in 1993. There is also no question that Corner Closet, Inc. was listed as the party in interest in the *Amended Complaint* in cause number C2002-082. Appellants are asking the Court to put the shareholders, Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt in the position of Corner Closet, Inc. for the purposes of that 2002 lawsuit. The effect of this would be a tolling of the statute of limitations for those shareholders, making dismissal of the 2005 action improper.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1.

## I. THE FILING OF THE FIRST COMPLAINT TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR CORNER CLOSET, INC.

This case appears to be one of first impression. Appellants are asking the Court to treat a dissolved corporation as a partnership for the purposes of litigation filed in the name of the corporation. The reasoning behind this is that the dissolved corporation continued to operate in fact as a partnership consisting of family members only. The effect of treating this dissolved corporation as a partnership for the filing in its name would be to toll a statute of limitations during the pendency of litigation in the corporation's name. Timely filing of a complaint acts as a tolling of a statute of limitations during the suit. *Norman v. Bucklew*, 684 So.2d 1246, 1256 (Miss.1996).

There are, claimed by Appellants, two possible ways to calculate the actual statute of limitations. The first way is that the statute was tolled by the filing of the suit by Ervin Funderburg. Mr. Funderburg filed his individual suit in June of 2002 with slightly over thirty-two months and two weeks remaining on the statute of limitations. The case was dismissed as stale for just over one week before being reinstated in early 2004, meaning that in 2004 there would have been thirty-two months and just under one week remaining on the statute of limitations due to the tolling period. Then, when the case was dismissed in 2005, a period of one month passed before a new suit was filed naming Ervin Funderburg as one of the Plaintiffs. As of the date of the filing of the new suit naming the proper parties by their correct names, when treating the Ervin Funderburg suit as the beginning of the tolling period, there would have been approximately thirty-one months remaining on the statute of limitations, regardless of the fact that the actual date was more than three years past the date of the incident giving rise to the cause of action.

Another possible computation period would be that the tolling of the statute limitations only began when the Complaint was amended to name Corner Closet, Inc. as a party Plaintiff. This is because Corner Closet, Inc. was the entity which indeed owned the inventory in question, regardless of whether Corner Closet, Inc. continued to exist as a fully licensed and registered corporation. The naming of Corner Closet, Inc. occurred on April 17, 2004. At that time, there would have been ten months and two weeks remaining on the statute of limitations. The dismissal in October of 2005, would have begun the statute of limitations running again and the filing of the new suit in November of 2005 resulted in a one month subtraction from the statute of limitations, meaning that at the time of the filing of the new suit in 2005, there still remained over nine months on the statute of limitations.

If the Court agrees with Appellants arguments below that the filing of a suit on behalf of a dissolved corporation which continues to operate as a family owned business tolls the statute of limitations for a suit in the name of that partnership then there could be no argument but that the 2005 suit was within the prescribed statute of limitations.

# II. THE FILING OF A SUIT IN THE NAME OF A DISSOLVED CORPORATION WHICH HAS CONTINUED TO ACT AS A FAMILY RUN BUSINESS SHOULD BE TREATED AS A FILING ON BEHALF OF THE BUSINESS AS A PARTNERHSIP.

Corner Closet, Inc. in 1993 was closely held corporation. Only family members had shares in the corporation. Those family members included Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt. All of those individuals operated the business continuously from 1993 through the present. They are all still holders of interest in Corner Closet, Inc. regardless of its filed designation with the Secretary of State. We are asking the Court today as a matter of public policy to treat Corner Closet, Inc., as named in the *Amended Complaint* of April 17, 2004, as whatever entity Corner Closet, Inc. has operated as in fact rather than treating it as a dissolved corporation.

The parties in interest in Corner Closet have remained the same. The structure of Corner Closet, Inc. remains the same. The inventory was the same inventory from 1993 until the day after the dissolution. The location remained the same. The only change to the business entity were filings with the Secretary of State's Office. Since a corporation is treated as an individual, the parallel would be a person who changes their legal name through marriage or for some other reason, the person remains the same whether the name changes or not. "A rose is a rose." The business entity should not be punished for a simple change in paperwork with the Secretary of State's Office.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The closely held family business was allegedly damaged in 2002 by Pontotoc Electric Power Association. Mr. Funderburg, the patriarch of the family, took responsibility for instituting action. Mr. Funderburg is not a business school graduate and may have been confused on the exact structural name of his business when he gave his deposition in the 2002 action. He stated that Corner Closet, Inc. was a corporation because he had, at one time, with his daughter, wife and other family members filed as a corporation. He did not realize the effect of dissolution. He and his family continued to operate the business as Corner Closet, Inc. When suit was filed in the amended name of Corner Closet, Inc. in April 17, 2004, the intent of the Plaintiff was a filing for the business entity in whatever form existed at that time, whether it was called Corner Closet, Inc., Corner Closet General Partnership or any other name. A filing on behalf of that business entity should act as a tolling of the statute of limitations for the entity and any persons with financial interests in the business.

As a matter of public policy, Corner Closet, Inc. as filed in the 2002 action should be treated as a filing for Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt, individually, as well as doing business as Corner Closet, Inc. and CC Blouses so that the filing in 2005 of an action those proper names will be within the prescribed statute of limitations. This case should be sent back to the lower Court to proceed toward trial.