IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

ERVIN FUNDERBURG, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

CAUSE NO: 2008-CA-00235

PONTOTOC ELECTRIC POWER ASSOCIATION

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CALHOUN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO: 2005-178

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, PONTOTOC ELECTRIC POWER ASSOCIATION

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

DAVID L. SANDERS, MS Bar CHRISTOPHER J. LATIMER, MS Bar Mitchell, McNutt & Sams Post Office Box 1366 Columbus, Mississippi 39703-1366 Telephone: (662) 328-2316

ATTORNEYS FOR PONTOTOC ELECTRIC POWER ASSOCIATION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

ERVIN FUNDERBURG, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

VERSUS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in determining that the statute of limitations barred Plaintiffs' claims brought in the second lawsuit.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case has had a long and winding procedural history. It has been filed, dismissed due to staleness, reinstated with a new plaintiff, dismissed for a second time, filed again in a separate lawsuit with new plaintiffs, dismissed for a third time, and now appealed.

The case actually dates back to March 3, 2002, when employees of Pontotoc EPA allegedly spilled a portion of fuel while retrieving two above-ground fuel tanks located near a cement building that housed second-hand clothes. (R. 14).¹ As a result of that incident, Ervin Funderburg sued Pontotoc EPA in the Circuit Court of Calhoun County, Mississippi on June 14, 2002, in cause number C2002-082 (the "first lawsuit"). (R. 13). After Funderburg failed to prosecute the case for over a year, the lower court dismissed it as being stale. (R. 17).

Funderburg then moved the lower court to reinstate the case, and as part of that reinstatement, to substitute plaintiffs. He moved to substitute Corner Closet, Inc. in place of himself as the plaintiff. (R. 21). As grounds for the substitution, he argued that "(d)uring the prosecution of this matter, facts came to light that show clearly that the

i ·

¹ While the lower court has never reached the underlying facts of this case, it was proffered during oral argument on Pontotoc EPA's Motion to Dismiss that only about a gallon of fuel spilled. (Transcript of Oral Argument, p. 4, Plaintiffs' Record Excerpts). That fact was not disputed by Plaintiff's counsel.

proper Plaintiff is Corner Closet, Incorporated "and that "Corner Closet, Incorporated . . . owns the damaged property, which is the subject of this suit." (*Id.*; R. 44-5) In addition, land records showed that Funderburg did not own the real property in question. (R. 45, 49).² The Court granted the motion, and the Complaint was reinstated and amended on June 24, 2004 to list Corner Closet, Incorporated ("Corner Closet, Inc.") as the plaintiff. (R. 24).

Following the amendment, Pontotoc EPA discovered that Corner Closet, Inc. had dissolved back in 1993, and had never sought reinstatement since its dissolution. (R. 29-30, R.E. 1). Upon learning that information, Pontotoc EPA moved for the case to be dismissed without prejudice because Corner Closet, Inc., as a dissolved corporation, had no right to sue in this context. (R. 29-30). The lower court found the motion well-taken and dismissed the case without prejudice on October 26, 2005. (R. 51). The Order of Dismissal stated that:

Having dissolved in 1993, Corner Closet Incorporated does not have the power or statutory right to bring this lawsuit. Additionally, this case cannot proceed with Ervin Funderburg as the real party plaintiff because he does not own the clothing or land allegedly damaged by Defendant in this case. Neither Corner Closet Incorporated nor Ervin Funderburg is the real party in interest in this case and Corner Closet Incorporated has therefore failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

(*Id.*) Neither Corner Closet, Inc. nor Ervin Funderburg appealed or contested this dismissal.

² The land records actually revealed that Pam Burt owned the property. (*Id.*)

Instead, a new and independent lawsuit was filed against Pontotoc EPA on December 2, 2005. This new lawsuit was brought by the following Plaintiffs:

- Ervin Funderburg, individually;
- Nancy Funderburg, individually;
- Pam Burt, individually;
- Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt, collectively d/b/a Corner Closet, Inc.;
- Corner Closet, Inc., a dissolved corporation;
- Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg and Pam Burt, collectively d/b/a CC Blouses.

This second lawsuit was brought in the Circuit Court of Calhoun County, Mississippi, and assigned new cause number C2005-178. (R. 1) (the "second lawsuit"). Notably, Ervin Funderburg and Corner Closet, Inc. were again listed as plaintiffs, despite the fact that the lower court had determined in the first lawsuit that they could not be proper plaintiffs. Moreover, other than the addition of new plaintiffs, the second lawsuit was identical to the first one.³

Pontotoc EPA then moved to dismiss the second lawsuit on the following grounds: 1) the lower court already determined in the first lawsuit that Ervin Funderburg, individually, and Corner Closet, Inc. could not be real party plaintiffs; and 2) the remaining plaintiffs' claims were barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 10-11).

³ The second lawsuit actually listed the date of the incident as being March 3, 2003, in contrast to March 3, 2002, as alleged in the first lawsuit. This discrepancy in this date, however, was just a typo or clerical oversight. It is undisputed that the incident occurred on March 3, 2002. (Appellants' Brief, p. 9).

After taking evidence and considering arguments of counsel, the lower court granted Pontotoc EPA's Motion. (R. 66). The Order of Final Judgment on the second lawsuit stated that:

> This Court has already determined in Cause No. C2002-082 that Corner Closet, Inc. cannot be a proper plaintiff because it is a dissolved corporation and Ervin Funderburg cannot be a proper plaintiff because he does not own the clothing or land allegedly damaged by the Defendant. The expiration of the statute of limitations bars the claims of the remaining Plaintiffs in this new and independent lawsuit.

(R. 66).

Plaintiffs in the second lawsuit then perfected this appeal. (R. 76). During the appeals process, however, Plaintiffs' counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw on the ground that he materially disagreed with Plaintiffs regarding the merits of the appeal. (R. 79). Nevertheless, because Plaintiffs had not agreed to proceed *pro se* or obtained substitute counsel, the Motion to Withdraw was denied. (R. 94).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi's general three year statute of limitations bars the second lawsuit brought by Plaintiffs. It is undisputed that the incident when the fuel allegedly spilled occurred on March 3, 2002. It is further undisputed that the second lawsuit was not filed until December 2, 2005, more than three years later. Accordingly, the second lawsuit is time-barred.

Plaintiffs' argument that the statute of limitations was somehow tolled by the filing, or reinstatement, of the first lawsuit fails for the following reasons. First, the second lawsuit was a new and independent proceeding. It was not an amendment to,

or reinstatement of, the first lawsuit. This distinction is a key one because the doctrines of tolling and relation-back to not apply to an independent proceeding. *Yazoo Mfg. Co. v. Schaffer*, 179 So.2d 784, 789 (Miss. 1965); *see also City of Tupelo v. Martin*, 747 So.2d 822, 828-29 (Miss. 1999).

Second, even if tolling could apply to a new and independent proceeding, it would not apply in this case because Ervin Funderburg was not a real party in interest and Corner Closet, Inc., had dissolved nine years before the filing of the first lawsuit. Because Funderburg and Corner Closet, Inc. had no power to sue in the first place, they had no power to toll the running of the limitations period.

Third, Plaintiffs have failed to present any authority for their argument that Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt should step into the shoes of Corner Closet, Inc., and allow Corner Closet, Inc.'s reinstatement of the first lawsuit to toll the statute of limitations as to them. Plaintiffs have not cited any law for such a proposal because none exists. In fact, the law actually precludes such a proposal. Ervin Funderburg cannot be a real party in interest because he did not own the clothes or land in question. *See* Miss. R. Civ. P. 17(a). Moreover, assuming, for the sake of argument, that Corner Closet, Inc. had the power to toll the statute by reinstating the first lawsuit, it would then be its own "person" under the law. *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Ingram*, 206 So.2d 204, 206 (Miss. 1968) ("A corporation is deemed to be a 'person' within the meaning of the statute of limitations"). Accordingly, as its own "person," Corner Closet, Inc. would not need Nancy Funderburg or Pam Burt to step into its shoes for the purposes of tolling.

5

Finally, Plaintiffs argument contravenes public policy in that it would allow them to benefit from their failure to adhere to corporate formalities. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to let their corporation lapse and yet still preserve what they assert to be a corporate cause of action.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

1.

The application of a statute of limitations is a question of law. *Sarris v. Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (Miss. 2003). This Court applies a *de novo* standard of review to the denial or granting of a motion brought under Rules 12(b)(6) or 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure concerning the application of the statute of limitations. *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, 926 So.2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006); *Simpson v. Boyd*, 888 So.2d 1047, 1050 (Miss. 2004).

B. The Lower Court Correctly Determined that Plaintiffs' Second Lawsuit Was Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Despite Plaintiffs best attempts to confuse the issue, this case is about the application of Mississippi's three-year statute of limitations to Plaintiffs' second, independent lawsuit.⁴ It is undisputed that the subject incident occurred on March 3, 2002, and that the second lawsuit was not filed until Dec. 2, 2005, more than 3 years later. Consequently, the second lawsuit is time-barred.

⁴ In both the first and second lawsuits, identical claims of negligence and trespass were brought. These claims fall under the general three-year limitations period contained in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49.

Plaintiffs argue, however, that the first lawsuit somehow tolled the running of the limitations period with respect to the second lawsuit. Plaintiffs' argument misses the mark for at least the following reasons.

1. The filing or reinstatement of the first lawsuit did not toll the statute of limitations because the second lawsuit was an "independent proceeding."

First, Plaintiffs' argument ignores the fact that the second lawsuit was a new and independent suit. It was not an amendment to, or a reinstatement of, the first lawsuit. This distinction is paramount because tolling does not apply, and the statute of limitations does not relate back, to the time of an original or amended filing if the new pleading is a new lawsuit or "independent proceeding." *Yazoo Mfg. Co.*, 179 So.2d at 789; *see also Martin*, 747 So.2d at 828-29. Therefore, Plaintiffs' argument fails because the doctrine of tolling does not apply to the second lawsuit, which was an "independent proceeding." Because the second lawsuit was a new lawsuit, filed after the three-year limitations period had already expired, the doctrines of tolling and relation-back do not apply. Consequently, the second lawsuit was time-barred.

2. The filing of the first lawsuit by Ervin Funderburg and the reinstatement of it by Corner Closet, Inc. cannot toll the statute of limitations because both Funderburg and Corner Closet, Inc. were improper party plaintiffs.

Second, even if the doctrine of tolling could somehow come into play by the filing and/or reinstatement of the first lawsuit, Plaintiffs conveniently ignore the fact that the person and entity upon which they hang their tolling arguments have been repeatedly determined by the lower court to be improper party plaintiffs. The filing of the first suit by Ervin Funderburg, as the original plaintiff, and the reinstatement of it by Corner Closet, Inc., as the amended plaintiff, could not toll the limitations period

1 1

because Funderburg and Corner Closet, Inc. did not have the right to prosecute the claim in the first place. Stated differently, they were not the real parties in interest. *See* Miss. R. Civ. P. 17(a). It is undisputed that Ervin Funderburg did not own the clothes or land at issue. Accordingly, he had no right to pursue the cause of action. Moreover, because Corner Closet, Inc. had been dissolved for over nine years at the time it took over as the party plaintiff, it was a legal nullity with no right to sue.⁵

In sum, even if the statute of limitations in this case could theoretically be tolled by filing or reinstating the first lawsuit, that filing or reinstatement would still have to be made by a proper plaintiff, which Funderburg and Corner Closet, Inc. were not.

3. No legal authority exists to support Plaintiffs' argument.

Third, it is notable that Plaintiffs have not presented this Court with any authority for their request that Ervin Funderburg, Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt step into the shoes of Corner Closet, Inc. for the purposes of tolling the statute of limitations. Apellants have not cited any law because no law exists that authorizes such a scheme.

In fact, the law actually precludes such a proposal. Ervin Funderburg cannot be a real party in interest because he did not own the clothes or land in question. *See* Miss. R. Civ. P. 17(a). Moreover, even assuming, for the sake of argument, that Corner Closet, Inc. could have maintained its legal status (despite dissolution) to prosecute the first

⁵ A "corporation has the power to sue in the corporate name only insofar as the state grants that power." *Bryant Const. Co., Inc. v. Cook Const. Co., Inc.,* 518 So.2d 625, 631, (Miss. 1987) (citing Miss. Code Ann. § 79-4-3.02). "When the corporation is suspended, it loses all rights acquired by the form of the organization, one of which, no doubt, is the right to sue in the corporate name." *Id.*

lawsuit, it would then be its own "person" under the law. *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Ingram*, 206 So.2d 204, 206 (Miss. 1968) ("A corporation is deemed to be a 'person' within the meaning of the statute of limitations"). Under this scenario, when the original complaint was reinstated and amended to make Corner Closet, Inc. the plaintiff, it would have been the only "person" that could affect the running of the statute. Therefore, if Corner Closet Inc. was a valid "person" at the time it reinstated the first lawsuit, then Nancy Funderburg, and Pam Burt cannot now step into its shoes for the purposes of tolling.

4. Plaintiffs' argument contradicts public policy.

Finally, Plaintiffs ask this Court "as a matter of public policy to treat Corner Closet, Inc., as named in the Amended Complaint of April 17, 2004, as whatever entity Corner Closet, Inc. has operated as in fact rather than treating it as a dissolved corporation." (Appellants' Brief, p. 13). Actually, this argument directly contravenes public policy. Plaintiffs' request would allow the members of Corner Closet, Inc. to benefit from their failure to follow corporate formalities. It would allow them to label their business entity in whatever way would be most legally advantageous at a particular time – i.e., on the one hand, holding itself out for business as a corporation (despite dissolution), while on the other hand, arguing that it was really some other form of business for the purposes of tolling the statute. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to let their corporation lapse and yet still preserve what they assert to be, in essence, a corporate cause of action.

1.

9

V. CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs have had three chances to properly file this lawsuit: first, when it was originally brought by Ervin Funderburg; second, when it was reinstated by Corner Closet, Inc.; and third, when the first suit was not amended, but rather brought back as a new and independent proceeding. The three year statute of limitations simply bars the second suit.

While the expiration of the statute of limitations can lead to a harsh result, the fact that a proper party in this case will not get his or her "day in court is of no consequence." *Martin*, 747 So.2d at 829. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the failure to properly file the first or second lawsuit resulted from anything other than the parties own inactions or omissions, which are no excuse. *Id*.

For all of the above reasons, and any others this Court deems appropriate, it should affirm the lower court's dismissal of the second lawsuit with prejudice.